
 

AGENDA 
PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

TUESDAY, MARCH 12, 2024 – 10:00 AM 
THIS MEETING WILL BE HELD REMOTELY ON ZOOM AND IS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC.

INSTRUCTIONS FOR REGISTERING FOR PUBLIC ACCESS TO THIS MEETING  

AND FOR SUBMISSION OF PUBLIC COMMENTS ARE LOCATED ON THE PAGE 

FOLLOWING THE AGENDA 

AGENDA 

I. Roll Call

II. Approval of Minutes of the Meeting of January 16, 2024

III. Executive Director’s Report

IV. Administrative Matters

A. Agreement for Professional Services with Connor Strong & Buckelew Companies, LLC
The agreement includes insurance, risk management, claims, safety/loss control, and
administrative services dating back to January 1, 2024.

B. First Amendment to Amended and Restated Management Contract between Philadelphia
Housing Development Corporation and Philadelphia Land Bank
The agreement extends the term of the existing Amended and Restated Management
Contract (the “Contract”) for four additional one-year terms, retroactive to July 1, 2023.  All
other terms and provisions of the Contract will remain unchanged and continue in full force
and effect.

C. Interagency Transfers
The property below is proposed for transfer to the Philadelphia Housing Development
Corporation for disposition, reuse and/or management by the Philadelphia Housing
Development Corporation, specifically community open space preservation.

• 1115 N. 41st Street (property being transferred by the Department of Public Property to
PHDC via the Land Bank)

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 1 of 90



 

V. Property Dispositions

A. Development – Affordable Housing (unsolicited)
The properties below are proposed for disposition to a Community Land Trust (the “CLT”)
which will be established by Mount Vernon Manor, Inc. upon approval of the disposition.  The
CLT will develop four (4) single-family affordable homeownership units, intended for sale to
households with incomes ranging from 60% to 80% of the Area Median Income (AMI), and
will retain ownership of the land while selling the improvements on the land to eligible
homebuyers.  The anticipated sale price for each of the four homes will range from $135,000
to $155,000. Under the terms of the ground lease, homeowners will lease the land from the
CLT and own the improvements on the land. This lease will have a duration of 99 years and is
renewable. The application was unsolicited and qualified as per terms of the disposition
policy. An EOP plan will apply to this project.

• 708, 710, 714 and 723 N. Shedwick Street (CD3) (all properties being transferred by the
Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority to the Land Bank)

VI. Public Comment (Old & New Business)

VII. Adjournment

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 2 of 90



 

phdcphila.org 

FROM: Andrea Imredy Saah, Esq., Senior Counsel 

RE: Philadelphia Land Bank March 12, 2024 Board Meeting  
Remote Board Meeting Notice, Public Attendance, and Comment Procedures 

DATE:  March 1, 2024 

The next Meeting of the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia Land Bank (“Land Bank”) is currently 
scheduled for Tuesday, March 12, 2024, with the executive session to begin at 9:30 A.M. and the 
meeting to begin at 10:00 A.M or as soon as the Executive Session has ended.  This meeting will be held 
remotely using Zoom webinar.  The meeting is open to public attendees and for public comments and 
questions. 

PLEASE NOTE: To participate in the meeting on your computer, you must register in advance. This 
requirement is necessary to allow us to collect the names of participants as required by law.  Using a 
computer, tablet or smartphone, use the following link:  

https://us02web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_uShnioX9SLuhXBEJVc4utQ 

After registering, you will receive a confirmation email containing information about joining the webinar.  
Members of the public who join before 10 A.M. will be given access when the meeting begins.   
Webinar ID: 863 4196 8429; Passcode: 433530 

To join the meeting by calling in, dial one of the following numbers: 
+1 267 831 0333 or +1 301 715 8592 or +1 312 626 6799 or +1 929 205 6099 Passcode: 433530

The Board agenda and package will be available to view no later than five (5) days prior to the Board 
meeting at https://phdcphila.org/who-we-are/boards/philadelphia-land-bank-board/.  Public comment and 
questions regarding the matters that are posted on the agenda may be submitted by email prior to the Board 
meeting and/or in person if attending the Board meeting.   

To submit questions or comments prior to the Board meeting, you must email the following 
information to andrea.saah@phdc.phila.gov by 3:00 p.m. on Monday, March 11, 2024: 
• Your full name and group or company affiliation, if applicable;
• Contact information (your email address);
• Identify the agenda item that you are addressing; and
• State your question/comment in a clear and concise manner.
Questions/comments submitted via email by the 3:00 pm deadline will be summarized at the Board meeting, 
answered or addressed to the extent the Board chooses, and attached to the minutes of the meeting.   

To submit questions or comments during the Board meeting when public comment on an agenda item 
is requested by the Board Chair, use the “Raise Hand” function at the bottom of the screen.  You may 
also submit your questions/comment using the “Q&A” function. Do not use the Chat function for 
questions or comments.  The Board Chair may limit repetitious questions/comments. Q&A submissions will 
be attached to the minutes of the meeting. 

If possible, the Board meeting will be recorded and made publicly available within thirty (30) days.  If you 
have a question about an agenda item after the meeting concludes, please submit it as described above.  To 
the extent possible, it will be addressed by Land Bank staff or by the Board at the next meeting. 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 3 of 90

https://us02web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_uShnioX9SLuhXBEJVc4utQ
https://phdcphila.org/who-we-are/boards/philadelphia-land-bank-board/
mailto:andrea.saah@phdc.phila.gov


PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 1 of 41 

PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 

JANUARY 16, 2024 BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING MINUTES (DRAFT) 

A Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia Land Bank was held on Tuesday, 
January 16, 2024, via Zoom webinar, of which proper notices were given.  A condensed certified 
transcript of this meeting is attached to these minutes as Exhibit A. 

Call to Order 

Acting Board Chair Andrew Goodman called the meeting to order at 10:07 a.m. 

Mr. Goodman introduced himself as Acting Board Chair and welcomed everyone to the January 
meeting of the Philadelphia Land Bank Board. 

Andrea Imredy Saah, Senior Counsel, made the following announcements: 

Today’s Board meeting is being held via an authorized communication device and is being recorded. 
Questions and comments may be made using the Q&A function or by using the “raise hand” 
function. If you are calling in and not using the Zoom webinar link, you may ask questions or make 
comments by pressing *9 on your phone or using the “raise hand” function.  Please do not use the 
Chat function. If any member of the public has any issues submitting questions or comments, please 
send an email to Andrea.Saah@phdc.phila.gov.  Please note that all questions and comments 
received by email prior to this meeting or through the Q&A function during the meeting will be 
included in the minutes.  All questions and comments received by 4 pm yesterday were shared with 
the Board.  Two emails were received the morning of this meeting, and they were shared with the 
Board as well.   

Prior to today’s Public Session, the Board held an Executive Session during which Mr. Rodriguez 
reviewed the agenda, announced the departure of Director of Real Estate Jessie Lawrence and 
expressed appreciation for Mr. Lawrence’s services. 

Item I 
Roll Call 

The following members of the Board of Directors reported present: Maria Gonzalez, Andrew 
Goodman, Michael Johns, Rebecca Lopez Kriss, Majeedah Rashid, Mo Rushdy and Rick Sauer. 

The following Board members were absent: Alexander Balloon and Michael Koonce. 

The following Land Management staff members were present: Angel Rodriguez, Jessie Lawrence, 
Andrea Imredy Saah, Esq., Robert Spence, Esq., Todd Hestand, Cristina Martinez, Germaine 
McCray-McDonald, Brian Romano, Tracy Pinson-Reviere, Mathen Pullukattu, Evelyn Sheared and 
Carolyn Terry. 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 4 of 90

mailto:Andrea.Saah@phdc.phila.gov


 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 2 of 41 

Public Attendees: The list of public attendees follow these minutes. 
 
A quorum of Directors was present, and the meeting, having been duly convened, proceeded with 
business. 
 
Mr. Goodman announced new rules for public comment to be implemented this year.  Individuals 
will be allowed two (2) minutes for public comment per person per agenda item.  There will be no 
personal attacks or hate speech against anyone, including applicants, staff members, Board members 
or other members of the public.  Comments must be related to the specific agenda item in question. 
Staff will assist with timing and muting microphones as needed.  Mr. Goodman stated these rules are 
in line with “best practices” from comparable boards and commissions in the City of Philadelphia, 
and Mr. Goodman trusts that this will maintain robust public comment at the meetings. 
 
 

Item II 
Approval of Board Minutes 

 
Mr. Goodman called for questions or comments from the Board regarding the minutes of the Board 
meeting of December 12, 2023.  There were none. Mr. Goodman called for questions or comments 
from the public.  There were none. 
 
Mr. Goodman called for a motion regarding approval of the minutes. 
 
Mr. Rushdy moved to approve the minutes. Ms. Gonzalez seconded the motion. 
 
Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the December 12, 2023 
Board Meeting minutes. 
 
 

Item III 
Executive Director’s Report 

 
Mr. Rodriguez wished everyone a Happy New Year.  Mr. Rodriguez reported that there was a ribbon 
cutting, the final of four (4) ribbon cuttings last year.  It was for the BMK Property Group’s project 
on William Street in Kensington, and the ribbon cutting went well.  Mr. Rodriguez encouraged 
people to look at the Turn the Key website, a link to which was placed in the chat, to see what is 
being produced as affordable housing. 
 
Mr. Rodriguez stated there will be a groundbreaking for the Grays Ferry Dover-Myrtlewood project 
at 1553 S. Dover Street on Tuesday, February 20 at 1:30 pm in the 2nd Council District in South 
Philadelphia.  The project is significant because it is a partnership of BMK and Dawud Bey, who is a 
first cohort graduate of the PHDC Minority Developer Program.  This shows the results of the 
initiatives to support black and brown developers and pair them with larger contractors to get 
affordable housing built. 
 
Mr. Rodriguez added there will also be a ribbon cutting for the Sharswood-Blumberg project in late 
February. This is a partnership between PHA and PHDC’s Turn the Key program and will offer 
seventy-seven (77) affordable homes in the Sharswood-Blumberg area. 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 5 of 90



 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 3 of 41 

Mr. Rodriguez notified the Board and public that, pursuant to Resolution No. 2023-32, two projects’ 
sales prices were approved administratively. The home sales prices in the Pastor James Allen project 
in Council District 4 were increased from $195,000 and $200,000 (NOTE: the previously approved 

prices were $200,000 and $230,000, not $195,000 and $200,000) to $230,000 and $250,000, 
respectively, with income eligibility remaining at or below 80% of AMI.  The increase is due to 
rising construction costs and financing costs in the construction finance market.  For the Grays Ferry 
Dover-Myrtlewood project in Council District 2, the home sales price is increasing from $230,000 to 
$250,000, with income eligibility remaining at or below 80% AMI, again due to construction costs 
and construction financing costs. 
 
Mr. Rodriguez acknowledged that Jessie Lawrence, who served as Real Estate Director for the past 
three (3) years, is departing to work for Mayor Parker as Associate Deputy Mayor for Planning and 
Special Projects.. This is his last Board meeting and last day with the Land Bank.  Mr. Rodriguez, 
Mr. Goodman, and other Board members congratulated and thanked Mr. Lawrence and wished him 
well.   
 
 

Item IV 
Property Dispositions 

 
Mr. Goodman stated there are three (3) property dispositions before the Board today, and that he 
would be recusing himself for the first item. Mr. Goodman stated he provided technical assistance to 
the applicant for the first disposition as part of his role in the 3rd Council District. A copy of the 
letter to the Board recusing himself from this item is attached to these minutes as Exhibit B. 
 

A. Development – Mixed-Income Housing (unsolicited) 
 
Mr. Goodman stated Ms. Gonzalez would chair the meeting for the first item and then turned off his 
audio and video. Ms. Gonzalez stated that, per the Land Bank bylaws, as Secretary, she will act as 
Chair for the item.  
 
Mr. Lawrence requested that the Board authorize the disposition of lots in the University City area to 
Northern Libs Partners LLC for the development of nineteen (19) mixed-income homeownership 
units.  This proposal includes five (5) single-family units and fourteen (14) condominium units and 
duplex structures.  The properties are in the Third Council District at 4422 and 4426-30 Ludlow 
Street; and 18, 20, 24, 26, 28, 30 and 34-36 S. 44th Street.  The proposal includes four (4) units 
which will be sold to households with incomes at or below 60% AMI with a maximum price of 
$199,990, one (1) unit which will be sold to a household with an income at or below 80% AMI with 
a maximum price of $250,000, and six (6) units which will be sold to households with incomes at or 
below 100% AMI with a maximum price of $280,000, for a total of eleven (11) affordable units. The 
units will be three (3) stories with no basement, containing 1,500 square feet with three (3) bedrooms 
and two (2) bathrooms.  There will also be market-rate units which will be 2,000 square feet with no 
basements, three (3) stories, and include four (4) bedrooms and four and a half (4.5) bathrooms.  The 
affordable units will be eligible for participation in the Turn the Key Program.   
 
The proposal was unsolicited and evaluated pursuant to the disposition policy.  The applicant plans to 
purchase the properties for $12,000.  The applicant is compliant and in good standing with the City 
of Philadelphia.  The project will require an Economic Opportunity Plan and will be subject to an 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 6 of 90



 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 4 of 41 

irrevocable power of attorney and a right of re-entry and reverter restrictions.  The affordable units 
will be subject to use restrictions and income verification requirements to ensure the units remain 
affordable for at least 15 years. 
 
Ms. Gonzalez called for questions or comments from the Board. There were none. 
 
Ms. Gonzalez asked if any correspondence was received prior to the Board meeting.  Ms. Imredy 
Saah responded that the Board received two (2) letters supporting the disposition and two (2) letters 
opposing the disposition, all of which are attached to these minutes as Exhibit C.  The first letter 
supporting the development was from Councilmember Gauthier, and the second supporting letter was 
from the West Philadelphia Economic Development Council.  The first letter of opposition was from 
West Philly United Neighbors RCO, and the second letter was from Jihad Ali. 
 
Ms. Gonzalez called for comments or questions from the public. 
 
Ms. Lopez Kriss asked to hear from the developer regarding the accuracy of the claims in the letters 
of opposition.  Jeremy Blatstein, representing the developer, responded, explaining that he emailed 
the RCOs identified by the Land Bank and delivered letters to the community members within 250 
feet of the project on December 28, 2023.  Mr. Blatstein sent a follow-up email to the RCOs the day 
prior to the meeting as a reminder.  The meeting was held January 11, 2024.  Mr. Blatstein said the 
meeting went well, but acknowledged there was opposition from West Philadelphia United 
Neighbors and Mr. Jihad Ali.  Ms. Lopez Kriss asked if everyone received a paper notice in their 
mailbox about the meeting.  Mr. Blatstein responded yes, they did.  Ms. Lopez-Kris asked how many 
people attended the meeting.  Mr. Blastein responded fifteen (15) people attended. 
 
Ms. Gonzalez recognized Ang Sun, the President of West Philadelphia United Neighbors.  Mr. Sun 
commented on the transparency of this process, stating that only 5 or 6 people attended the meeting.  
Mr. Sun did not attend the meeting, as he did not see the initial notice and the reminder was sent two 
(2) hours before the meeting on January 11. 
 
Ms. Gonzalez next recognized Jihad Ali, who voiced his opinion that the community meeting 
notification process is flawed.  Mr. Ali did not like that there was no sign-in sheet in the Board 
package and that no vote was taken regarding community support and asked that the disposition be 
tabled.  Mr. Rodriguez then clarified the community meeting requirement and notification process.  
The community meeting was instituted as a requirement by the Land Bank Board to provide an 
additional opportunity for the community to receive information about a proposed disposition.  It is 
not a Registered Community Organization (RCO) meeting, it does not follow RCO and planning 
department rules, and a vote is not required.  The goal is to alert the community so they can come to 
the Board meeting and share their concerns.  Mr. Rodriguez also noted that the Land Bank posted 
notice on the properties regarding the pending disposition. 
 
Mr. Rushdy asked Mr. Blatstein if he received a package with instructions from the Land Bank staff 
on whom to contact for the community meeting.  Mr. Blatstein responded that the letter from the 
Land Bank instructed him to give notice to residents within 250 feet of the property and provided a 
list of RCOs to notify.  Mr. Rushdy asked if Mr. Blatstein received an acknowledgement or receipt of 
the notices when they were sent.  Mr. Blatstein responded that he did, since one of the local 
neighbors was on the call and that indicated the neighbors received the notices.  Mr. Rushdy asked if 
the instructions from the Land Bank were followed.  Mr. Blatstein confirmed that they were.  Mr. 
Rushdy asked Land Bank staff if they believed the instructions were followed.  Mr. Lawrence 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 7 of 90



 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 5 of 41 

responded affirmatively.  Ms. Gonzalez asked if a sign-in sheet was provided to the Land Bank.  Mr. 
Blatstein confirmed that it was. 
 
Mr. Sauer asked if the developer is restricted to the type of development and number of units 
identified in the application.  Mr. Rodriguez said the developer is restricted to the project as approved 
by the Board.  There is a Purchase and Development Agreement which defines the project and is 
recorded.  The agreement includes a right of reverter and other restrictions which protect the Land 
Bank in the event the developer does not fulfill the terms of the agreement.  The Land Bank also does 
not convey the properties until the developer receives their permits and would not issue a consent to 
sell letter if the developer did not build the project as approved.  Finally, there is a Declaration of 
Restrictive Covenants that is recorded against the properties, which includes a definition of the use 
approved by the Board and the restrictions and covenants that govern the project. 
 
Ms. Gonzalez next recognized Nabeelah Bey, a member of the Mill Creek community.  Ms. Bey 
agreed with Mr. Ali’s proposal to table the disposition and to hold a more widely announced 
community participation meeting.  Ms. Bey voiced her concerns about the additional weight of these 
structures on the land, and that the area is saturated with housing. 
 
Ms. Gonzalez recognized Mr. Blatstein again. Mr. Blatstein clarified that the developer is 
contributing one lot to the project, which allows the affordable housing to be fully realized. 
 
Ms. Gonzalez called for a motion regarding the proposed disposition. 
 
Mr. Rushdy moved to approve the disposition.  Ms. Lopez Kriss seconded the motion. 
 
Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board (without Mr. Goodman present) approved the 
Resolution Authorizing Conveyance of 4422 Ludlow Street, 4426-30 Ludlow Street, 18-20 S. 
44th Street, 24-28 S. 44th Street, 30 S. 44th Street, 34-36 S. 44th Street to Northern Libs 
Partners, LLC (attached to these minutes as Exhibit D). 
 

B.  Development –  Community-Benefitting Use (unsolicited) 
 
Mr. Goodman returned to the meeting, and Ms. Rashid turned off her audio and video at this time. 
Mr. Rodriguez explained that Ms. Rashid has an affiliation with the applicant for the next 
disposition and is recusing herself from this item.  A copy of her letter explaining the recusal is 
attached to these minutes as Exhibit E. 
 
Mr. Rodriguez requested that the Board authorize the lease of 3601 Germantown Avenue, formerly 
a City-owned parking lot being transferred to the Land Bank, to Called to Serve CDC.  The lease 
would be for $10 per year for an initial 1-year term, which would automatically extend to 5 years, 
and would allow for five 5-year extensions for a possible total of 30 years pending City Council 
approval.  Called To Serve CDC wishes to lease the 65-space parking lot and to sublet the parking 
lot to 3701 North Broad LLC, which owns the Beury Building, located at 3701-03 North Broad.  
The Beury Building is being redeveloped as a hotel with restaurant, fitness center, and meeting 
spaces.  3701 North Broad would like to use 45 spaces for valet parking for its guests.  The 
remaining 20 spaces would continue to be used by existing businesses along the commercial 
corridor.  The sublease requires 3701 North Broad LLC to make improvements to the parking lot 
and to provide security for the lot.  Hotel rooms and meeting space would also be provided to Called 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 8 of 90



 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 6 of 41 

To Serve CDC in support of its programming.  The lease terms are summarized in Exhibit A to the 
proposed resolution, and the terms of the sublease to 3701 North Broad LLC are summarized in 
Exhibit B to the proposed resolution.  Called To Serve will also be required to report to the Land 
Bank how they are using the funds received from 3701 North Broad LLC 
 
Mr. Goodman asked if there is any precedent for such an arrangement.  Mr. Rodriguez responded 
that the Land Bank owns land near 15th and Poplar where North Broad Renaissance has a multi-
year lease with the Land Bank, and they sublet the land to the Met event venue.  North Broad 
Renaissance receives rent payments and in-kind services.  The agreement has been in place for 
multiple years and is going well.  This type of arrangement allows the City to leverage its resources 
to improve the commercial corridor without expending any funds directly.  Mr. Goodman asked if 
the improvements were required under the agreement. Mr. Rodriguez responded that they are, and 
the Land Bank would be monitoring to ensure they are completed. 
 
Mr. Goodman asked if any correspondence was received prior to the Board meeting.  Ms. Imredy 
Saah stated that none was received.  Mr. Goodman asked if any member of the public wished to 
comment on this item.  There were none. 
 
Mr. Goodman called for a motion regarding the proposed disposition. 
 
Ms. Gonzalez moved to approve the disposition. Mr. Johns seconded the motion. 
 
Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously (without Ms. Rashid present) 
approved Resolution Authorizing a Lease between Philadelphia Land Bank and Called To 
Serve CDC, Inc., and a Sublease between Called To Serve CDC, Inc. and 3701 North Broad, 
LLC, for 3601 Germantown Avenue (attached to these minutes as Exhibit F). 
 
C.   Side/Rear Yards 
 
Mr. Lawrence requested that the Board authorize the conveyance of 2428 North Orianna Street in the 
7th Council District to the adjacent owner, Anthony K. Bright, Jr., to be used as a side or rear yard.   
The applicant is compliant and in good standing with the City of Philadelphia.  The property will be 
subject to a 30-year mortgage and use restrictions as a side or rear yard.   
 
Mr. Goodman called for questions from the Board.  Mr. Goodman asked if the adjacent owner was 
an entity.  Mr. Lawrence stated the Land Bank reviewed the deed and ownership and is satisfied that 
Mr. Bright is the owner and occupant of the adjacent home. 
 
Mr. Goodman asked if any correspondence was received prior to the Board meeting.  Ms. Imredy 
Saah stated none was received. 
 
Mr. Goodman asked if any member of the public wished to comment on this item and recognized 
Odessa Tate, who asked if the 28th Street and Cumberland Street development was on the agenda 
today.  Mr. Rodriguez confirmed that that project was not on the agenda for this meeting. 
 
Mr. Goodman called for a motion regarding the proposed disposition. 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 9 of 90



 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 7 of 41 

Ms. Lopez Kriss moved to approve the disposition. Mr. Rushdy seconded the motion. 
 
Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution 
Authorizing Conveyance of 2428 North Orianna Street to Anthony K. Bright, Jr. (attached to 
these minutes as Exhibit G). 
 
 

Item V 
Public Comment (Old & New Business) 

 
Mr. Goodman asked if any member of the public wished to raise old or new business.  Mr. Goodman 
recognized Jihad Ali, who thanked Mr. Lawrence for his service.  Mr. Ali stated the Board can be 
disrespectful, and that he believes the processes required by the Land Bank are flawed.  Mr. Ali also 
requested that all conflicts of interest be reduced to writing.  Ms. Imredy Saah clarified that Board 
members are supposed to submit a letter explaining their conflict of interest prior to the meeting, but 
if they did not recognize the conflict prior to the meeting, they are required to verbally acknowledge 
the conflict in the meeting and submit a written letter after the meeting. 
 
Mr. Goodman next recognized LuAn Gethers.  Ms. Gethers owns a property in Strawberry Mansion 
and requested contact information for someone at the Land Bank to address maintenance needs at an 
adjacent property.  Ms. Gethers also asked about the process for the City releasing the adjacent 
property for competitive bidding.  Mr. Rodriguez responded that if Ms. Gethers provides the property 
address, the maintenance team can stabilize the property. 
 
Mr. Goodman next recognized Lawrence Macey.  Mr. Macey asked for contact information 
regarding current and future RFP for low-income affordable housing developments.  Mr. Rodriguez 
provided the contact information for Melissa Long, Director of the Division of Housing and 
Community Development, in the chat.  Mr. Goodman added that the PHDC website has information 
regarding the competitive and noncompetitive bid processes. 
 
Mr. Goodman next recognized Ronald Jackson.  Mr. Jackson asked for Mr. Macey’s contact 
information.  Mr. Rodriguez responded that Mr. Macey put his email in the Q&A, and that Mr. 
Rodriguez would post the email in the chat for Mr. Jackson’s convenience. 
 
 

Item VI 
Adjournment 

 
Mr. Goodman called for a motion to adjourn.  Ms. Gonzalez moved to adjourn the meeting.  Mr. 
Sauer seconded the motion. 
 
Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously voted to adjourn at 11:11 am. 
 
NOTE:  Any comments and questions submitted via the Q&A function follow the list of 
attendees attached to these minutes. 
 
 
       

SECRETARY TO THE BOARD  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 10 of 90



PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 8 of 41 

PUBLIC ATTENDANCE SHEET 
PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK BOARD OF DIRECTORS REGULAR MEETING 

Tuesday, JANUARY 16, 2023, at 10:00 AM, held remotely using Zoom Webinar.  
User Name 
jamila davis 

Mark Coriolan 
Lawrence Macey 

Abdul-Rahim Muhammad 
David Fecteau 

Winnie Branton 
Jacquelyn Sims 

Strawberry Mansion Community Concern 
Wayne T 

Jeremy Blatstein 
Traci Powell 

Lili Razi 
Suzanne Ponsen 

Kelly Cary 
Jeffrey Brown 
Larry Griffin 

Anthony Fullard 
Nicole Clayton-Morgan 

Michelle Lewis 
Arlene Wayns - Thomas 

CRYSTAL TANN-ROBERTS 
LuAn Gethers 
Thom Webster 
Juanda Myles 

Daniel Galarraga 
Pam Andrews 

Ang Sun 
Arlene Smith 
Jeffrey Harley 
Nabeelah Bey 
Odessa Tate 
Yvie Jones 

Phillip Zhao 
Marina Adimari 

Ronald Jackson has 
Ronald Jackson 
Kyle Sampson 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 11 of 90



 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 9 of 41 

PUBLIC ATTENDANCE SHEET 
PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK BOARD OF DIRECTORS REGULAR MEETING 

Tuesday, JANUARY 16, 2023, at 10:00 AM, held remotely using Zoom Webinar.  
User Name 

Terrance Lisby 
Guy Orens 
scott orens 

Dan Toennies 
Brennan Tomasetti 

Caller 1 
Caller 2 
Caller 3 
Caller 4 

 
 
 
 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 12 of 90



PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 10 of 41 

PUBLIC COMMENTS SUBMITTED IN Q&A 
PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK BOARD OF DIRECTORS REGULAR MEETING 

Tuesday, JANUARY 16, 2023, at 10:00 AM, held remotely using Zoom Webinar 

# Question Asker Name Answer 
1 are they sold at 12k PER lot? Nabeelah Bey $1,000/ parcel = $12,000 total 

2 That is awful  Are they vacant 
lots? 

Nabeelah Bey Yes 

3 Why can't the community 
preserve green space and 
community gardens? 

Nabeelah Bey The site is currenlty being used for 
illegal parking. We have not received a 
qualified application for that use. 

4 Do you have a document on 
the required items for a 
qualified application? 

Nabeelah Bey Anyone interested in acquiring public 
land must apply via this websaite: 
https://phdcphila.org/land/buy-land/ 

5 Who is the developer? Nabeelah Bey Northern Libs Partners, LLC 
6 I agree with the initial 

suggestion table until another 
community meeting can be 
held 

Nabeelah Bey 

7 Jeffrey Harley from Called To 
Serve CDC is on the call. 

Jeffrey Harley 

8 Is the Land Bank considering 
hybrid board meetings rather 
than solely virtual meetings? 

Winnie 
Branton 

For the time being we will be remote. 

9 maceysenterprises@gmail.com Lawrence 
Macey 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 13 of 90



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 11 of 41 

Condensed transcript of JANUARY 16, 2023 Board Meeting follows 

 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 14 of 90



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 12 of 41 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 15 of 90



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 13 of 41 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 16 of 90



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 14 of 41 

 
 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 17 of 90



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 15 of 41 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 18 of 90



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 16 of 41 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 19 of 90



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 17 of 41 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 20 of 90



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 18 of 41 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 21 of 90



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 19 of 41 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 22 of 90



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 20 of 41 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 23 of 90



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 21 of 41 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 24 of 90



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 22 of 41 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 25 of 90



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 23 of 41 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 26 of 90



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 24 of 41 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 27 of 90



Exhibit B 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 25 of 41 

 
 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 28 of 90



Exhibit C 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 26 of 41 

 
 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 29 of 90



Exhibit C 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 27 of 41 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 30 of 90



Exhibit C 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 28 of 41 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 31 of 90



Exhibit C 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 29 of 41 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 32 of 90



Exhibit C 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 30 of 41 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 33 of 90



Exhibit C 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 31 of 41 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 34 of 90



Exhibit C 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 32 of 41 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 35 of 90



Exhibit C 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 33 of 41 

 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 36 of 90



Exhibit D 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 34 of 41 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024 – 1 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF  
4422 LUDLOW STREET, 4426-30 LUDLOW STREET, 18-20 S. 44TH STREET,  

24-28 S. 44TH STREET, 30 S. 44TH STREET, 34-36 S. 44TH STREET  
TO NORTHERN LIBS PARTNERS, LLC 

WHEREAS, Section 16-707 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land Bank (the 
“Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real property of 
the Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the Land Bank, 
subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the terms and 
conditions of Chapter 16-404 of the Philadelphia Code. 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best interests of 
the Land Bank to convey 4422 and 4426-30 Ludlow Street, and 18-20, 24-28, 30, and 34-36 S. 44th 
Street (collectively, the “Property”) to Northern Libs Partners, LLC, a Pennsylvania limited liability 
company (the “Purchaser”). 

  
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the 

Philadelphia Land Bank that: 
 

1. The conveyance of the Property to the Purchaser for Twelve Thousand and 00/100 U.S. Dollars 
($12,000.00) is in the best interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved, subject to approval by 
resolution of Philadelphia City Council.  

 
2. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-404 

of the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 
 
3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each hereby 

authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, and perform 
any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or desirable, to consummate 
the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction Documents”) and, from time to time 
and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may 
be necessary or desirable.  The Transaction Documents and any amendments, supplements, and 
modifications thereto shall contain such terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior 
Counsel shall deem necessary or appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so 
executed and delivered by the Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the 
Land Bank. 

 
4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior Counsel 
will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting following the 
date of such modifications. 

 
5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 
 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on January 16, 2024. 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 37 of 90

http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=pennsylvania(philadelphia_pa)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27Chapter%2016-400%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_Chapter16-400


Exhibit E 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 35 of 41 

 
Recusal letter from Majeedah Rashid to be added 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 38 of 90



Exhibit F 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 36 of 41 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024 - 2  
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING A 
LEASE BETWEEN PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK AND CALLED TO SERVE CDC, INC., AND 

A SUBLEASE BETWEEN CALLED TO SERVE CDC, INC. AND 3701 NORTH BROAD, LLC, 
FOR 3601 GERMANTOWN AVENUE 

 
  WHEREAS, Section 16-707 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land Bank 

(the “Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real property 
of the Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the Land Bank, 
subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the terms and 
conditions of Chapter 16-404 of the Philadelphia Code. 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best interest of 
the Land Bank to lease 3601 Germantown Avenue (the “Property”) to Called to Serve CDC, Inc., a 
Pennsylvania nonprofit corporation (the “Tenant”) for a one (1) year initial term which will automatically 
convert to a five (5) year initial term upon approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 

WHEREAS, the Tenant desires to sublet the Property to 3701 North Broad, LLC, and 
Pennsylvania limited liability company (the “Subtenant”), and, pursuant to the terms of the lease 
agreement, a sublease of the Property by the Tenant requires the Board’s approval. 

WHEREAS, the Board has determined that it is in the best interest of the Land Bank to approve 
the Tenant’s sublease to 3701 North Broad, LLC. 

  
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the 

Philadelphia Land Bank that: 
 

1. The lease of the Property to the Tenant upon terms and conditions materially in conformance with the 
terms and conditions summarized in the Lease Summary attached as Exhibit “A” to this Resolution is 
in the best interest of the Land Bank and is hereby approved, subject to the terms and conditions of this 
Resolution. 
 

2. The sublease of the Property by the Tenant to the Subtenant upon terms and conditions materially in 
conformance with the terms and conditions set forth in the Sublease Summary attached as Exhibit “B” 
to this Resolution is in the best interest of the Land Bank and is hereby approved, subject to the terms and 
conditions of this Resolution. 

 
3. The lease and the sublease of the Property comply with all terms and conditions of Section 16-404 of 

the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council.  
 

4. The Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each hereby authorized, in the name of and on behalf 
of the Land Bank, to negotiate, prepare, execute, deliver, and perform any and all agreements and other 
documents as may be necessary or appropriate to consummate the lease of the Property with terms and 
conditions materially in conformance with the summary of major lease terms (Exhibit “A”) attached to 
this Resolution and further containing such other terms and conditions which the Executive Director 
and Senior Counsel deem necessary or appropriate, and which, when so executed and delivered by the 
Land Bank, shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land Bank. 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 39 of 90



Exhibit F 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 37 of 41 

5. The Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each hereby authorized, in the name of and on behalf 
of the Land Bank, to negotiate, prepare, execute, deliver, and perform any and all agreements and other 
documents as may be necessary or appropriate to consummate the sublease of the Property with terms 
and conditions materially in conformance with the summary of major sublease terms (Exhibit “B”) 
attached to this Resolution and further containing such other terms and conditions which the Executive 
Director and Senior Counsel deem necessary or appropriate, and which, when so executed and delivered 
by the Land Bank, shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land Bank. 

 
6. The Executive Director, with the advice of Senior Counsel, may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents.  The Executive Director or Senior Counsel 
will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting following the 
date of such modifications.     

 
7. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 

 
 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on January 16, 2024. 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 40 of 90



Exhibit F 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 38 of 41 

EXHIBIT “A” to Resolution 
Summary of Major Lease Terms 

Parties Landlord: Philadelphia Land Bank; Tenant: Called to Serve CDC, Inc. 

Term Initial term of one (1) year.  The term is automatically extended to five (5) years 
upon resolution of City Council, without any further action of the Land Bank Board. 

Renewals Upon resolution of City Council, five (5) consecutive renewal options of five (5) 
years each, without any further action of the Land Bank Board. 

Rent Ten Dollars ($10.00) for each year of the term. 

Real Estate Taxes, 
Insurance, and 
Other Costs  

Rent is absolutely net to Landlord.  All costs, expenses, liabilities, and obligations 
relating to the ownership and operation of the premises, including but not limited to 
insurance, utilities, taxes, construction, repair, and maintenance, are paid by Tenant. 

Permitted Use Private parking on an existing parking lot for use by businesses along the Broad, 
Germantown and Erie business corridor.   

Zoning and 
Improvements 

The Property is already zoned for the Permitted Use.  

Tenant is expected to improve the premises in connection with the Permitted Use to 
bring the Property up to code under the City of Philadelphia Code requirements, 
including resurfacing, striping, adequate fencing, and lighting. Tenant will 
commence and complete the work within such periods as determined by Landlord. 

Sublease The premises will be sublet to 3701 North Broad, LLC (Subtenant). 

Sublease Proceeds All gross proceeds and other consideration received by Tenant from any sublease or 
assignment (“Proceeds”) will be used exclusively for Qualified Operational 
Expenditures and for no other purpose.   

“Qualified Operational Expenditures” - reasonable costs incurred by Tenant 
including salaries, benefits, overhead and program supplies for any of the following: 

• programs that provide technical assistance to businesses located on the
Broad, Germantown and Erie commercial corridor;

• programs that seek to maintain and increase the number of businesses on the
Broad, Germantown and Erie commercial corridor;

• programs for the cleaning and revitalization of the Broad, Germantown and
Erie commercial corridor; and

• programs that provide after-school educational and skill-building programs
to youth at schools located within the Nicetown-Tioga neighborhoods
served by Tenant as part of its organizational mission.

Tenant is required to provide a quarterly report (“Tenant’s Report”) containing 
information about the Proceeds (expected, actual, and earmarked), the programs and 
activities supported by the Proceeds, the Qualified Operational Expenditures 
(budgeted and actual), and any other information as may be requested by Landlord.   

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 41 of 90



Exhibit F 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 39 of 41 

EXHIBIT “B” to Resolution 
Summary of Major Sublease Terms 

 
Parties Landlord: Philadelphia Land Bank 

Sublessor: Called to Serve CDC, Inc. 
Sublessee: 3701 North Broad, LLC 
 

Term 
 

Co-terminous with the term of the master lease between Landlord and Sublessor. 
 

Renewals In accordance with the terms of the master lease between Landlord and Sublessor, 
five (5) consecutive Renewal Options of five (5) years each, subject to and 
conditional upon the exercise of each Renewal Option by the Sublessor.  
  

Rent  
 

Base Rent during the Initial Term (as defined in the master lease) shall consist of the 
following:  
 
(i)  Year 1: Eighteen Thousand Dollars ($18,000) annually payable in equal monthly 

installments of Fifteen Hundred Dollars ($1,500.00) on the first day of each 
calendar month during the Initial Term, as may be adjusted for each Renewal 
Term (as more particularly set forth below), by check made payable to 
Sublessor. 

 
Base Rent shall be adjusted as follows:  

Year 2: $18,000 annually ($1,500/month) 
Years 3 & 4: $27,600 annually ($2,300/month)  
Year 5: $33,600 annually ($2,800/month) 
Years 6 and forward: annual rent increases to be equal to the increase in the 12-
month Consumer Price Index (CPI) over the prior year.   

 
In no event shall Base Rent in any Renewal Term be less than the Base Rent paid in 
the immediately prior Renewal Term.    
 
(ii) Sublessee shall donate to Sublessor annually:  

• 10 complimentary room nights at the Hotel Beury (date exclusions will 
exist) 

• 1 complimentary meeting room per month (chairs & water only) 
 
(iii) Sublessor shall have complimentary access to 20 of the 65 parking spaces 
contained in the parking lot. Sublessee may pick location of those parking spaces. 
 

Real Estate Taxes, 
Insurance, and 
Other Costs  
 

All costs, expenses, liabilities, and obligations relating to the operation of the 
Property and all obligations under the master lease, including, without limitation, 
insurance, utilities, taxes, construction, repair, and maintenance, are the Sublessor’s 
responsibility. 
 

Permitted Use 
 

Private (valet) parking of motor vehicles for guests of The Hotel Beury located at 
3701 N. Broad Street (45 spaces) and private parking for neighborhood businesses 
and organizations (20 spaces chosen by Sublessee for businesses and organizations 
chosen by Sublessor). 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 42 of 90



Exhibit F 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 40 of 41 

Zoning and 
Improvements 

The Property is already zoned for Permitted Use.   
 
Sublessee shall improve the Property and shall bear the costs, expenses, liabilities, 
and obligations therefore in accordance with the terms of the Sublease regarding 
construction improvements required under the master lease or the Sublease.    
 
Sublessee will commence and complete the work in accordance with a plan and 
within timelines to be approved by Landlord and Sublessor.   
 

Confession of 
Judgment 

Sublease will contain a confession of judgment for rent and possession.  Sublease 
may not be amended or modified without Landlord’s approval.  
 

 
 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 43 of 90



Exhibit G 

PLB Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes for January 16, 2024 Page 41 of 41 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024 – 3 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF  
2428 NORTH ORIANNA STREET  
TO ANTHONY K. BRIGHT, JR. 

WHEREAS, Section 16-707 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land Bank (the 
“Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real property of 
the Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the Land Bank, 
subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the terms and 
conditions of Chapter 16-404 of the Philadelphia Code. 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best interests of 
the Land Bank to convey 2428 North Orianna Street (the “Property”) to Anthony K. Bright, Jr. (the 
“Purchaser”). 

  
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the 

Philadelphia Land Bank that: 
 

1. The conveyance of the Property to the Purchaser for One and 00/100 U.S. Dollar ($1.00) and a thirty 
(30) year mortgage for Twenty-Four Thousand Nine Hundred Ninety-Nine and 00/100 U.S. Dollars 
($24,999.00) is in the best interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved, subject to approval by 
resolution of Philadelphia City Council.  

 
2. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-404 

of the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 
 
3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each hereby 

authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, and perform 
any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or desirable, to consummate 
the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction Documents”) and, from time to time 
and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may 
be necessary or desirable.  The Transaction Documents and any amendments, supplements, and 
modifications thereto shall contain such terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior 
Counsel shall deem necessary or appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so 
executed and delivered by the Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the 
Land Bank. 

 
4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior Counsel 
will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting following the 
date of such modifications. 

 
5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 
 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on January 16, 2024. 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 44 of 90

http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=pennsylvania(philadelphia_pa)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27Chapter%2016-400%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_Chapter16-400


MARCH 12, 2024 PLB BOARD MEETING 

MATERIALS FOR AGENDA ITEM IV.A 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 45 of 90



 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024 - ___ 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AGREEMENT FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES WITH 
CONNOR STRONG & BUCKELEW COMPANIES, LLC  

 
WHEREAS, the Philadelphia Housing Development Corporation, as agent for the Philadelphia 

Land Bank (“Land Bank”), issued a Request for Proposals seeking proposals from qualified insurance 
brokerage firms to provide insurance, risk management, safety and loss control, claims and administrative 
services (collectively, the “Insurance Services”). 
 
 WHEREAS, the proposals were reviewed and evaluated by a selection committee (the 
"Committee").   
 

WHEREAS, the Committee selected Conner Strong and Buckelew Companies, LLC (“CSB”) to 
perform the Insurance Services under certain terms and conditions. 

WHEREAS, the Board recognizes the need for prompt and timely management decisions and 
believes that the efficiency of the Land Bank’s operations will be enhanced if the Board authorizes an 
agreement for the Insurance Services with CSB, subject to the terms of this Resolution.  

  
 NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia Land Bank 
(“Board”) that  
 
1. The Executive Director, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, is hereby authorized to enter 

into an agreement for Insurance Services with CSB for a one (1) year term, retroactive to January 1, 
2024 and effective through December 31, 2024, with the option to renew for three (3) successive one 
(1) year renewal terms.  The annual compensation shall not exceed Thirty-Six Thousand Dollars 
($36,000), to be paid in two equal installments, and the total compensation for all years shall not exceed 
One Hundred Forty-Four Thousand Dollars ($144,000).   

 
2. The Executive Director is further hereby authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to 

prepare, execute, deliver, and perform any and all agreements and other documents, as may be 
necessary or desirable, to consummate and agreement for Insurance Services with CSB (collectively, 
the “Transaction Documents”) and, from time to time and at any time, amend, supplement, renew, 
and modify the Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be necessary or desirable, subject to the 
terms of this Resolution.  The Transaction Documents and any amendments, supplements, renewals, 
and modifications thereto shall contain such terms and conditions as the Executive Director, with the 
advice of Senior Counsel, shall deem necessary or appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution 
and, when so executed and delivered by the Land Bank, shall constitute the valid and binding 
obligations of the Land Bank. 

 
3. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior Counsel 
will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting following the 
date of such modifications. 

 
4. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 

 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on ______________________. 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 46 of 90



 

 

 

 

 

 
MARCH 12, 2024 PLB BOARD MEETING 

 
MATERIALS FOR AGENDA ITEM IV.B 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 47 of 90



RESOLUTION NO. 2024 - ___ 
 
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING FIRST AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED 
MANAGEMENT CONTRACT BETWEEN THE PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK AND THE 
PHILADELPHIA HOUSING DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION  
 

WHEREAS, on June 14, 2018, the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia Land Bank (the 
“Board”) adopted Resolution 2018-19, which authorized the Philadelphia Land Bank (the “Land 
Bank”) to enter into the Amended and Restated Management Contract with Philadelphia Housing 
Development Corporation (“PHDC”); 

 
 WHEREAS, the Land Bank and PHDC entered into the Amended and Restated 
Management Contract on December 18, 2020, effective retroactively to July 1, 2018 and continuing 
through June 30, 2019, with four additional (4) one-year renewal periods (the “Contract”), attached 
to this Resolution as Exhibit A; 
 
 WHEREAS, Resolution 2018-29 authorizes the Executive Director with the advice of Senior 
Counsel to modify the Amended and Restated Management Contract without further approval of the 
Board, provided that any modifications are, in the opinion of Senior Counsel, not material;   
 
 WHEREAS, PHDC and the Land Bank desire to amend the Contract to extend the term of 
the Contract as more particularly set forth in the First Amendment to the Contract, attached to this 
Resolution as Exhibit B, which, in the opinion of Senior Counsel, is material and, as a result, 
requires approval of the Board; 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board has considered the extension of the term of the Contract and finds 
that the adoption of this Resolution is in the best interests of the Land Bank; 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the 
Philadelphia Land Bank that: 

 
1. The Initial Term, as defined in Section II of the Contract, shall be deemed to extend, effective 

from the Extension Effective Date of July 1, 2023, for an additional four (4)-year term (the 
“Extension Term”). The Extension Term shall consist of four (4) consecutive one (1) year 
terms (each, a "Renewal Term"), each of which Renewal Terms shall automatically renew 
unless either party hereto provides written notice to the other party not fewer than ninety (90) 
days prior to the end of the then-current Renewal Term that such party intends not to further 
renew the Term of the Contract. 
 

2. Except as set forth in the First Amendment, all other terms and provisions of the Contract 
shall remain unchanged and continue in full force and effect. In the event of any 
inconsistency between the Contract and the First Amendment, the First Amendment shall 
govern and control. 
 

3. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as 
may be necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or 
Senior Counsel will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board 
meeting following the date of such modifications. 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 48 of 90



4. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 
 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on ______________________. 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 49 of 90



EXHIBIT A 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 50 of 90



EXHIBIT A 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 51 of 90



EXHIBIT A 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 52 of 90



EXHIBIT A 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 53 of 90



EXHIBIT A 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 54 of 90



EXHIBIT A 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 55 of 90



EXHIBIT A 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 56 of 90



EXHIBIT A 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 57 of 90



EXHIBIT A 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 58 of 90



EXHIBIT A 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 59 of 90



EXHIBIT A 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 60 of 90



EXHIBIT A 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 61 of 90



EXHIBIT A 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 62 of 90



EXHIBIT A 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 63 of 90



EXHIBIT A 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 64 of 90



EXHIBIT A 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 65 of 90



EXHIBIT A 

 

 

 

 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 66 of 90



EXHIBIT B 

 
First Amendment to Amended and Restated Management Contract 20 
(PHDC and PLB) 

 
FIRST AMENDMENT  

 
TO 

 
AMENDED AND RESTATED MANAGEMENT CONTRACT  

 
THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED MANAGEMENT 

CONTRACT (this "First Amendment") is entered into as of this ______ day of ___________, 2024, and 
made effective retroactively to July 1, 2023 (the "Extension Effective Date"), by and between the 
PHILADELPHIA   HOUSING  DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION ("PHDC"),  a nonprofit 
corporation organized and existing under the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, with offices 
at 1234 Market Street, 16 Floor, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19107, and the PHILADELPHIA LAND 
BANK (the "Land Bank") a public body and a body corporate and politic established under the 
Pennsylvania Land Bank Legislation, Act 153 of 2012, with its principal office located at 1234 Market 
Street, 16th Floor, Philadelphia, PA 19107. 
 

WITNESSETH: 
 

WHEREAS, PHDC and the Land Bank entered into a certain Amended and Restated 
Management Contract on December 18, 2020 and made effective retroactively to July 1, 2018 (the 
"Contract"). 
 

WHEREAS, PHDC and the Land Bank desire to amend the Contract to extend the term of the 
Contract as more particularly set forth in this First Amendment. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants contained herein, 
and intending to be legally bound hereby, the parties hereby agree as follows: 
 

1. Incorporation of Recitals.  The above recitals are incorporated herein by reference as if 
set forth at length. 

 
2. Term. The Initial Term, as defined in Section II of the Contract, shall be deemed to 

extend from the Extension Effective Date, for an additional four (4) year term (the "Extension Term"). 
The Extension Term shall consist of four (4) consecutive one (1) year terms (each, a "Renewal Term"), 
each of which Renewal Terms shall automatically renew unless either party hereto provides written 
notice to the other party not fewer than ninety (90) days prior to the end of the then-current Renewal 
Term that such party intends not to further renew the Term of the Contract. 

 
3.  Continuation of Contract. Except as set forth in this First Amendment, all other terms 

and provisions of the Contract shall remain unchanged and continue in full force and effect. In the event 
of any inconsistency between the Contract and this First Amendment, this First Amendment shall 
govern and control. 

 
4. Entire Agreement.  This First Amendment represents the entire agreement between the 

parties regarding the subject matter contained in this First Amendment and there are no other terms, 
obligations, covenants, representations, statements or conditions oral or otherwise of any kind 
whatsoever between the parties regarding the sbject matter contained in this First Amendment except as 
set forth in this First Amendment.     

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 67 of 90



EXHIBIT B 

 
First Amendment to Amended and Restated Management Contract 21 
(PHDC and PLB) 

 
5. Counterparts.  This First Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts, 

each of which shall be an original, but all of which together shall constitute one instrument. Any 
signature delivered by a party by facsimile or other electronic transmission (including, without 
limitation, e-mail of a .pdf image) shall be deemed to be an original signature for all purposes. 
 
 

Remainder of page intentionally left blank; signatures follow on next page. 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 68 of 90



EXHIBIT B 

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Management Contract 22 
(PHDC and PLB)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this First Amendment to be 
executed by its duly authorized officials. 

Approved as to Legal Form 
Philadelphia Land Bank 

By: 
Attorney 

PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 

By:_________________________________ 
Angel Rodriguez, Executive Director 

Approved as to Legal Form 
Philadelphia Housing  
Development Corporation 

By: 
Attorney 

PHILADELPHIA HOUSING 
DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 

By:_________________________________ 
David S. Thomas, President and CEO 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 69 of 90



MARCH 12, 2024 PLB BOARD MEETING 

MATERIALS FOR AGENDA ITEM IV.C 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 70 of 90



 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024 - ___ 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF  
1115 NORTH 41ST STREET  

TO PHILADELPHIA HOUSING DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 

WHEREAS, Section 16-707 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land Bank (the 
“Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real property of 
the Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the Land Bank, 
subject to the terms and conditions of Chapter 16-404 of the Philadelphia Code. 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best interest of 
the Land Bank to convey 1114 North 41st Street (collectively, the “Property”) to the Philadelphia 
Housing Development Corporation (“PHDC”) for disposition, reuse and/or management as determined 
by PHDC. 

  
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the 

Philadelphia Land Bank that: 
 

1. The conveyance of the Property to PHDC for One and 00/100 U.S. Dollar ($1.00) is in the best interests 
of the Land Bank and is hereby approved. 
 

2. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-404 
of the Philadelphia Code. 

 
3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each hereby 

authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, and perform 
any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or desirable, to consummate 
the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction Documents”) and, from time to time 
and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may 
be necessary or desirable.  The Transaction Documents and any amendments, supplements, and 
modifications thereto shall contain such terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior 
Counsel shall deem necessary or appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so 
executed and delivered by the Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the 
Land Bank. 

 
4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior Counsel 
will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting following the 
date of such modifications. 

 
5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 
 
 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on _______________. 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 71 of 90

http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=pennsylvania(philadelphia_pa)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27Chapter%2016-400%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_Chapter16-400


BOARD FACTSHEET  
Meeting of March 12, 2024 
Conveyance of PLB Property to PHDC 

 

 

Nature of Transaction: The Philadelphia Land Bank (the PLB) will facilitate the conveyance of 

title of 1141 N. 41st Street (the Property), which is owned by the City of Philadelphia (the City), 

to the Philadelphia Housing Development Corporation (PHDC):  

 

The conveyance of the property will be for disposition, reuse, and management by PHDC, 

specifically for the preservation of a community open space. 

 

The property was approved for conveyance by the Philadelphia Land Bank in collaboration with 

the 3rd Councilmanic District Office.  

  

 

 

PROPERTY INFORMATION:  

 

PLB Conveyance:  The PLB property listed below will be conveyed to PHDC without 

consideration, pursuant to Section 2109 of Land Bank Act, 68 Pa. C.S.A. § 2109(d)(3), after the 

property has have been transferred by the Department of Public Property to the PLB. 

 

3rd Councilmanic District  

1115 North 41st Street 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 72 of 90



 

 

 

 

 

 
MARCH 12, 2024 PLB BOARD MEETING 

 
MATERIALS FOR AGENDA ITEM V.A 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 73 of 90



RESOLUTION NO. 2024 - ___ 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF  
708, 710, 714 AND 723 NORTH SHEDWICK STREET 

TO MT. VERNON MANOR COMMUNITY LAND TRUST  

WHEREAS, Section 16-707 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land Bank 
(“Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real property of the 
Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the Land Bank, subject 
to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the terms and conditions of 
Chapter 16-404 of the Philadelphia Code. 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best interests of 
the Land Bank to convey 708, 710, 714 and 723 North Shedwick Street (collectively, the “Property”) to a 
Community Land Trust to be established by Mt. Vernon Manor, Inc. (the “Purchaser”) for the 
development of four (4) affordable single-family homes to be sold to home purchasers with a household 
income at or below Eighty Percent (80%) of Area Median Income, with the land on which the homes are 
located to be leased instead of sold to the homeowners as a means of maintaining long-term affordability 
for future home purchasers; 

  
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the 

Philadelphia Land Bank that: 
 

1. The conveyance of the Property to the Purchaser for Four and 00/100 Dollars ($4.00) is in the best 
interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City 
Council.  
 

2. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-404 of 
the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 

 
3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each hereby 

authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, and perform 
any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or desirable, to consummate 
the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction Documents”) and, from time to time 
and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be 
necessary or desirable.  The Transaction Documents and any amendments, supplements, and 
modifications thereto shall contain such terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior 
Counsel shall deem necessary or appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so 
executed and delivered by the Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land 
Bank. 

 
4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior Counsel 
will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting following the 
date of such modifications. 

 
5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on _______________. 

Approved by Philadelphia City Council Resolution No. _________ dated ___________. 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 74 of 90

http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=pennsylvania(philadelphia_pa)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27Chapter%2016-400%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_Chapter16-400


DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 3.7.2024 

1. ADDRESS: 708, 710, 714 & 723 N. Shedwick Street; Philadelphia PA 19104

2. PROPERTY INFORMATION

Zip Code: 19104 Census Tract: 010900 Council District: 3 

Zoning: RSA-5 Lot Area: 3,860 SF 

OPA Value: $119,900 Appraised Value: $155,000  

Redevelopment Area: N/A Urban Renewal Area: N/A 

3. APPLICANT INFORMATION

Applicant Name: Mt. Vernon Manor, Inc. Type: Business / Legal Entity 

Entity Owners: Executive Director Michael Thorpe 

Mailing Address:  3311 Wallace St, Suite B, Philadelphia PA 19104 

Authorized Contact: Michael Thorpe 

Application Date: 12/19/2023 

4. PROJECT INFORMATION

Disposition Type: Non-Comp: 51% of Site as 
Affordable, Workforce, or Mixed Income Housing 

Strategic Plan Goal (Land Bank Only): Housing - Workforce 
(61%-120% AMI) 

Price Paid at Settlement: $4 Proposed Use: Residential 

Development Type: New Construction No. of Buildings: 4 

Units: 4 units - Residential / 0 units - Commercial End User: Sale to Homebuyer 

Gross Floor Area (sq. ft.): 3,877 SF Construction Cost / sq. ft.: $209 

Construction Costs: $810,293 
Project Funding Available: Committed and Verified - Applicant 
has provided documentation of available, committed funds in 
an amount no less than total project costs. 

Total Project Costs: $1,435,000 Mortgage Amount: $N/A 

5. APPROVALS, DEADLINES, EOP

Agreement Executed: TBD Economic Opportunity Plan Goals:  25% MBE, 5% WBE 

Land Bank Board Approval: TBD PRA Board Approval: N/A 

Construction Commencement Deadline: 3 months 
after settlement 

Construction Completion Deadline: 18 months after 
settlement 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 75 of 90



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 3.7.2024  

 

 

6. DEVELOPMENT SUMMARY 

 A. How was title acquired?  
Title for most properties were acquired by the City of Philadelphia through Sheriff sale. The property currently 
owned by the PRA has all the approvals to be transferred to the Land Bank. 
 

 B. Application Summary: 
Mt. Vernon Manor, Inc. will develop four (4) single-family affordable homeownership units, intended for sale to 

households with incomes ranging from 60% to 80% of the Area Median Income (AMI). To facilitate this, a Community 

Land Trust (CLT) will be established, which will retain ownership of the land while selling the improvements on the 

land to eligible homebuyers. The anticipated sale price for each of the four homes will range from $135,000 to 

$155,000. Under the terms of the ground lease, homeowners will have the opportunity to lease the land from the 

CLT and own the improvements on the land. This lease will have a duration of 99 years and is renewable. The 

application was unsolicited and qualified as per terms of the disposition policy. An EOP plan will apply to this project.  

 C. Unit Details:   

• 4 Total Single-Family Homes. 

• Homeownership with Community Land Trust ground-lease 

• Maximum sale price of $155,000. 

• Target households with incomes at or below 80% AMI. 

• 2 story Single Family Homes, containing 2 bedrooms & 2 baths. 

• Approximately 1,000 SF each. 
•  

 D. Summary of Restrictions or Covenants:   
 

This transaction is subject to the following only if the box is checked:  

             ☒ Irrevocable Power of Attorney ☒Right of Re-entry/Reverter 
 

A Declaration of Restrictive Covenants will be placed on all the units to ensure that the homes will remain affordable 
for a minimum of 15 years, and purchasers for the affordable units will be income-certified. 
 

 E. Community Outreach: 

• Staff received a completed Community Outreach Package to confirm a community meeting was held:  

               ☒ Yes   ☐ No  ☐ N/A 

• Meeting Date (if applicable): 02/27/2024 
 

7. STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends the disposition of 708, 710, 714 & 723 N Shedwick Street to Mt. Vernon Manor, Inc for 
development of 4 Singla Family homeownership units. 

 

Prepared by: Mathen Pullukattu – Senior Development Specialist  

Reviewed by: Angel Rodriguez – Executive Director, Land Bank 
 

Attachments - If box below is checked, the item is attached. 

☒ Property photos 

☒ Site Map 

☒ Floor Plans 

☒ Sources and Uses (Excel spreadsheet) 

☒ Appraisal Summary Pages 
 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 76 of 90



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 3.7.2024  

 

 

SITE PHOTOS 

 

           

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 77 of 90



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 3.7.2024  

 

 

SITE MAP 

 

 

 
    

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 78 of 90



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 3.7.2024 

RENDERING & FLOOR PLANS 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 79 of 90



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 3.7.2024  

 

 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 80 of 90



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 3.7.2024  

 

 

 
 
 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 81 of 90



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 3.7.2024  

 

 

 
 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 82 of 90



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 3.7.2024  

 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 83 of 90



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 3.7.2024  

 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 84 of 90



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 3.7.2024 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 85 of 90



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 3.7.2024  

 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 86 of 90



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 3.7.2024  

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 87 of 90



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 3.7.2024 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 88 of 90



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 3.7.2024  

 

 

SOURCE OF FUNDS

Committed  (Y/N) Source % Total

Senior Debt $600,000.00 42%

Subordinate Debt $0.00 0%

Developer Equity $0.00 0%

Other - describe to the right $650,000.00 45%

Other - describe to the right $185,000.00 13%

TOTAL SOURCE OF FUNDS $1,435,000.00 100%

USE OF FUNDS
HARD COSTS

ACQUISITION Cost % Total

Property Acquisition $4.00 0.00%

Closing Costs $6,000.00 0.42%

Other - describe in space to the right $0.00 0.00%

UNIT CONSTRUCTION

Complete table at bottom of page $810,293.00 56.47%

OTHER CONSTRUCTION

Landscaping $4,000.00 0.28%

Permits $28,000.00 1.95%

Clearance and Demolition $10,000.00 0.70%

Utility Connections & Tap Fees $0.00 0.00%

INFRASTRUCTURE

Streets and Sidewalks $9,500.00 0.66%

Water and Sewer $48,000.00 3.34%

Stormwater & Drainage $10,000.00 0.70%

Impact Fees $0.00 0.00%

OTHER HARD COSTS

Hard Cost Contingency $72,000.00 5.02%

Other - describe in space to the right $0.00 0.00%

TOTAL HARD COSTS $997,797.00

SOFT COSTS 

PROFESSIONAL FEES

Site Planning $0.00 0.00%

Architecture & Engineering $96,000.00 6.69%

Legal $10,000.00 0.70%

Consultant $50,000.00 3.48%

Survey $6,000.00 0.42%

Market Study $0.00 0.00%

Environmental $14,000.00 0.98%

Organization Expense $7,000.00 0.49%

Other Consultants $0.00 0.00%

FINANCE COSTS

Construction Loan Interest $50,000.00 3.48%

Construction Origination $6,000.00 0.42%

Appraisal $5,000.00 0.35%

Construction Insurance $28,000.00 1.95%

Property Taxes $0.00 0.00%

OTHER SOFT COSTS

Holding Costs $0.00 0.00%

Soft Cost Contingency $38,203.00 2.66%

Developer Fee, if applicable $70,000.00 4.88%

Other - describe in space to the right $15,000.00 1.05%

Other - describe in space to the right $36,000.00 2.51%

Other - describe in space to the right $6,000.00 0.42%

TOTAL SOFT COSTS $437,203.00

TOTAL DEVELOPMENT COST $1,435,000.00 0.00%

Construction/Rehab. Costs

Unit Description Unit Sq. Ft. Cost/Sq. Ft. Unit Cost # Units Total Const. Cost Total Sq. Ft. Total Sq. Ft. %

1 708 N Shedwick 1,027 $209.00 $214,643.00 1 $214,643.00 1,027 26.49%

2 710 N Shedwick 1,027 $209.00 $214,643.00 1 $214,643.00 1,027 26.49%

3 714 N Shedwick 1,027 $209.00 $214,643.00 1 $214,643.00 1,027 26.49%

4 723 N Shedwick 796 $209.00 $166,364.00 1 $166,364.00 796 20.53%

TOTALS $810,293.00 4 $810,293.00 3,877 100.00%

Lender's Construction Inspections, Title & recording fees

Sales Commissions 6%

Mortgage Counseling Services

Mantua Powelton Alliance Grants

National Fair Housing Alliance Grants

Reinvestment Fund Construction Loan

Indicate Source and, if applicable, describe

DEVELOPMENT BUDGET/ SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS

Applicant: 

Property Address: 708, 710, 714, 723 N. Shedwick St

Mt. Vernon Manor

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 89 of 90



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 3.7.2024 

APPRAISAL SUMMARY 

Owner Street Address Opinion Of Value Zoning SF USE

Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority 708 N Shedwick St 30,000.00$     RSA 5 814 Affordable Single Family Home

Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority 710 N Shedwick St 30,000.00$     RSA 5 887 Affordable Single Family Home

Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority 714 N Shedwick St 30,000.00$     RSA 5 814 Affordable Single Family Home

City of Philadelphia 723 N Shedwick St 65,000.00$     RSA 5 1345 Affordable Single Family Home

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for March 12, 2024 Page 90 of 90




